IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 05-2373

JOSE ANTONIO JIMENEZ,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Florida Bar No. 0754773 McClain & McDermott, P.A. 141 N.E. 30th Street Wilton Manors, FL 33334 (305) 984-8344

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's denial of a postconviction motion without an evidentiary hearing. The following symbols will be used to designate references to the record in this appeal:

- "R." -- record on direct appeal to this Court;

INTRODUCTION

Mr. Jimenez was convicted and sentenced to death on a case built entirely upon circumstantial evidence, as the State conceded in its closing argument at trial:

[D]efense [counsel] will probably say it's circumstantial, but when the Court reads the instructions to you carefully for a circumstantial phrase. The only place you may find that phrase is in the burglary instruction, the phrase circumstantial evidence.

The evidence is the fingerprint. The evidence is his statement. The evidence is Mr. Merriweather remembering this man jumping out from the balcony.

And the evidence is in fact how she died, and more likely than not a right handed man. There is only one conclusion you can draw from all of the evidence, the defendant is guilty of first degree murder. Guilty of burglary as charged.

(T. 891). The defense presented in its case the fact that DNA analysis of evidence conducted by the Metro-Dade Police

¹A fingerprint found on the inside of the victim's front door was identified by a law enforcement officer as matching Mr. Jimenez's right little finger (T. 671). Of course, Mr. Jimenez lived in the same apartment complex as did the victim.

The statement referred to by the prosecutor was a statement allegedly made by Mr. Jimenez on October 5, 1992, shortly before his arrest that the police were at his residence because they wanted to talk to him about a "stabbing" (T. 774). The State alleged that on October 5^{th} , three days after the homicide, no one but the killer knew the manner of death (T. 881).

The third circumstance was Mr. Merriweather's claim that he saw Mr. Jimenez hang drop from the victim's balcony between 7:45 and 8:00 p.m. on the night of October 2, 1992 (T. 705-06). Yet, other witnesses heard someone in the victim's apartment who precluded their entry at approximately 8:10 p.m. (T. 637, 649).

Department did not link Mr. Jimenez to the murder.

Specifically, the victim was not the source of blood found on Mr. Jimenez's pants (T. 824), and Mr. Jimenez's blood was not found on a towel seized from the victim's apartment (T. 828).

In the motion to vacate at issue in this appeal, Mr. Jimenez proffered recently discovered evidence that demonstrated that the State withheld exculpatory evidence from the defense, the State interfered with the defense's efforts to develop and present favorable evidence, the State deliberately manipulated the process to force a change of counsel on the defendant, the State intentionally withheld from the defense its relationship with private investigator Sessler and its possession of Sessler's investigative reports regarding Mr. Jimenez, and that the defense rendered ineffective assistance of counsel.

In order to understand the significance of the information not provided to the jury, consideration must first be given to the information the jury received. The jury did learn that Merriweather spoke to a uniformed police officer shortly after the homicide, and that the officer wrote in his report that Merriweather "advised, prior to this officer's

In fact, one witness had seen Mr. Jimenez in the parking lot walking away from the apartment complex at 7:55 p.m., some ten or more minutes before she heard the noises emanating from the victim's apartment that caused the neighbors to try to enter through the open door that was then shut in their faces (T. 638).

arrival he observed SI-UNK a white latin male 5'6" - 5'9", 175 - 190 lbs., wearing a t-shirt and blue jeans, jump off the balcony" (2PC-R. 145). In fact, this police officer testified that in his deposition he had reported that Merriweather advised him that the person had jumped from "a second story balcony on to the van then on to the ground" (T. 853). By the time of trial, the officer was uncertain as to whether Merriweather had mentioned the van. This police officer indicated that when he arrived at the scene, there in fact was a white van that was "parked in such a position to give easy access to climb up and down from the balcony" (T. 845).

Merriweather acknowledged in his testimony before the jury that he had stated in his own deposition that, after the person jumped down from the balcony, this person talked to him.

"Then I was standing there talking to him and he just walked.

The cab pulled up on the other side. He walked and he got in the cab." (T. 724). However, by the time of trial,

Merriweather's memory had faded and he did not recall whether or not a cab had picked up the individual. Merriweather explained:

"Talking about a year later my mind ain't a robot. I ain't a computer." (T. 726).

Important information regarding the white van and the cab did not reach the jury. Officer Cardona arrived at the

crime scene at 8:27 PM (2PC-R. 194).² She was specifically instructed to "to investigate a white van that was in the parking lot to see if they had anything to do with the incident upstairs" (<u>Id</u>.). She found the white van occupied when she checked it out. The occupants included a middle aged woman and two young males, potential witnesses whose names Officer Cardona failed to obtain (2PC-R. 196). Even though the occupants of the van would have been in a position to see someone jump from the second story balcony, they saw nothing.

Further, no evidence was presented at trial regarding law enforcement's efforts to locate the cab driver who responded to the apartment complex that night. The police contacted the cab company and discovered that at approximately 8:20 p.m., on October 2, 1992, the dispatcher received the call for a cab for

 $^{^2}$ Defense counsel advised the trial judge of his desire to call Cardona as a witness, but that she had not responded to the subpoena he had served at the police department (T. 785). This occurred shortly after defense counsel had been precluded from presenting, through the cross-examination of another police officer, Cardona's description of Mr. Jimenez when she saw him at the scene (T. 766-69). The prosecutor objected and explained, "the purpose they want to bring this in is because they want to bring out that the description Officer Cardona gives of the defendant when she sees him is in fact, different from the description given by the female witnesses who saw him" (T. 767). When the State rested and defense counsel advised of his difficulty in producing Cardona as a witness, the judge asked the prosecution team if it could produce Cardona for testimony. One of the prosecutors responded, "I don't know. can attempt to get hold of her" (T. 786). Cardona was not produced and did not testify.

"Jose" at the apartment complex at 6^{th} Avenue and 137 Street. Shortly thereafter, a cab driver, Anwar Ali, was dispatched to pick up the fare named Jose (2PC-R. 74-75).

As was pled in the Rule 3.851 motion at issue in this appeal, Mr. Ali was located shortly before the motion was filed and provided highly exculpatory information. When Mr. Ali arrived at the apartment complex, he was not able to locate Jose. He did recall being flagged down by a man on 6th Avenue somewhere between 135th and 151st Streets. This man was bleeding from the face and he told Mr. Ali that he had been mugged and only had a couple of dollars. Mr. Ali gave him a ride to an apartment complex at 142th Street and 18th Avenue, and he dropped him off at the front gate (T. 75).

Mr. Ali was repeatedly interviewed by the police in the weeks that followed and shown several photographs of the same guy to see if he was the fare who was bleeding from the face. Mr. Ali kept telling the police that the individual in the photographs did not look familiar. Then, Mr. Ali started receiving subpoenas from the State Attorney's Office. He had to go appear at least three times to be interviewed about the fare bleeding from the face. On occasion, he was forced to wait

before anyone would speak to him.³ He was again shown more photographs of the same individual whose photographs he had been previously shown. He again advised his questioners that the man in the photograph did not look like the man who had been picked up and was bleeding from his face. Mr. Ali specifically advised the police that the person in the photographs, Mr. Jimenez, was not the fare bleeding from the face who was picked up near Ms. Minas' apartment (2PC-R. 75).

Finally, the State withheld from the defense the fact that private investigator Sessler was providing assistance to the State and had given law enforcement all of his investigative reports concerning Mr. Jimenez (2PC-R. 85). Sessler had been

³Defense counsel was not provided with statements obtained by the State from Mr. Ali. However, defense counsel was aware of a statement that Mr. Ali had made to a public defender investigator in October of 1992. It was on the basis of the public defender's handwritten note that Mr. Jimenez's subsequent attorneys unsuccessfully sought to depose Mr. Ali and unsuccessfully sought to subpoena him to testify at trial (2PC-R. 75-76).

However, Mr. Ali has reported that due to the hardships of responding to the repeated subpoenas issued by the State Attorney's Office, he consulted with Al Gandero, his dispatcher, who was also receiving harassing subpoenas. Mr. Gandero advised Mr. Ali to ignore the subpoenas that told him to go to the office and to wait for one that directed him to go to court. According to Mr. Ali, Mr. Gandero was also ignoring subpoenas in the case. After his talk with Mr. Gandero, Mr. Ali began ignoring the subpoenas that he received. As a result, the jury never heard Mr. Ali's testimony (2PC-R. 76).

⁴During a deposition of Sessler, the defense indicated that it wanted access to Sessler's investigative reports. The State

hired by Manuel Calderon, a member of the Medellin drug cartel, to investigate Mr. Jimenez after Calderon learned that Mr. Jimenez had been with Calderon's girlfriend the night she died of a drug overdose. As a result, Calderon had it in for Mr. Jimenez. The fact that the investigator he hired to get dirt on Mr. Jimenez and the investigative reports that he had paid for were being used by the State while making its case against Mr. Jimenez was significant evidence that the defense could have used to impeach the impartiality of those building the State's case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Mr. Jimenez's current Rule 3.851 motion presented facts alleging that he is innocent of the murder for which he was convicted and sentenced to death (2PC-R. 68-92). Mr. Jimenez's motion alleged that these facts raise substantial doubts regarding the State's case at trial, were previously

responded that it understood that Sessler was invoking attorneyclient privilege as to the reports, even though the State was in full possession of all of the investigative reports (2PC-R. 261). Thus, the State was aware that the privilege had been waived when the reports were disclosed to the State, and yet, it deliberately chose to mislead the defense and not disclose the reports.

In fact, Sessler ultimately billed the State for his assistance. In seeking and obtaining authorization to pay Sessler's bill, the State asserted that Sessler "assisted in the preparation and presentation of the trial" (2PC-R. 286). The defense was never advised that Sessler was working for the State and was to be compensated for his work.

unknown because the State failed to disclose them, and/or because the State presented false or misleading evidence at trial, and/or because trial counsel failed to investigate and present them, and/or because Mr. Jimenez's state-paid counsel in his first postconviction proceedings failed to investigate and present them, and/or because they are newly discovered evidence of innocence (2PC-R. 72-92). Mr. Jimenez here summarizes the State's case at trial and the new facts first presented in the current postconviction motion.

Mr. Jimenez was charged by indictment on October 21, 1992, in Dade County, Florida, with one count of first degree murder and one count of burglary with an assault (R. 1-2).

Trial commenced on October 3, 1994, before Judge Rothenberg.

On the evening of October 2, 1992, Phyllis Minas was stabbed to death in her apartment at a North Miami apartment complex where both she and Mr. Jimenez lived. State witness Merriweather, a custodian at the complex, testified that between 7:45 and 8:00 p.m. on that night, he saw a man he later identified as Mr. Jimenez drop from the victim's balcony to the ground (T. 705-06). About 25 or 30 minutes later, Merriweather saw Mr. Jimenez a second time, and Mr. Jimenez told Merriweather he was waiting for a cab (T. 723). At trial, Merriweather did not remember whether he saw Mr. Jimenez get into a cab, but in

his pretrial deposition, he testified that after he and Mr.

Jimenez spoke, Mr. Jimenez walked away and got into a cab (T.

723-24). Also at trial, Merriweather denied having told the police that he saw the man he later identified as Mr. Jimenez come out onto the victim's balcony, jump to the next balcony, and then jump onto a white van and to the ground (T. 730-32).

Office Corland, who interviewed Merriweather at the scene, testified in his pretrial deposition that Merriweather said he saw a man "jump off a second story balcony on to the van then on to the ground" (2PC-R. 168).

Shortly before Ms. Minas' body was discovered, several neighbors had returned from grocery shopping. As these neighbors--Virginia Taranco, Ms. Taranco's mother and Mary Griminger--were unloading their groceries from a car, they saw Mr. Jimenez in the apartment complex parking lot at approximately 7:55 p.m. (T. 617-18).

⁶It is important to remember that Merriweather said the man jumped from the second story balcony before 8:00 p.m. (T. 717). He recalled the time because his shift ended at 8:00 p.m., and he was sitting on the walkway waiting for his ride home (T. 704).

⁷Given that in the course of their testimony these women reported hearing "a noise, a thump" from the victim's apartment about 10 minutes later, and it was this noise that caused them to approach the victim's apartment and attempt to push an ajar front door open, it was then that the door was snapped shut from inside (T. 620-22), it is clear that the assailant was inside

The neighbors went upstairs to unload their groceries in Ms. Taranco's apartment, which was next door to Ms. Minas' apartment, at approximately 7:55 PM (T. 619). It took Ms.

Taranco about four minutes or so to walk with her elderly mother and Ms. Griminger to her apartment (T. 619). After another six minutes or more, Ms. Taranco was finished unloading her groceries (T. 619). Ms. Griminger left Ms. Taranco's apartment to head upstairs to her third floor apartment (T. 620). When Ms. Griminger was heading up the stairs, Ms. Taranco heard suspicious noises coming from Ms. Minas' apartment. Thinking that maybe Ms. Griminger had fallen, Ms. Taranco then called out for Ms. Griminger, who came back down the stairs. As Ms.

the apartment at that time, *i.e.* ten minutes after the women had observed Mr. Jimenez downstairs in the parking lot.

⁸According to the State's theory of the case, Mr. Jimenez would had to have come back up to the second floor after the women saw him in the parking lot, after they spent four minutes or so walking Ms. Taranco's elderly mother up the stairs, and entered the victim's apartment while Ms. Griminger was in Ms. Taranco's apartment unloading groceries.

⁹Meanwhile, Ana Brandt, a witness who was not called to testify at Mr. Jimenez's trial, advised a police officer during an interview that she was waiting for Ms. Griminger on the third floor walkway (2PC-R. 112). She was waiting for Ms. Griminger because she wanted to tell her "that 'COWBOY' a nickname they had labeled the subject 'JOSE' with, had just come home." As Ms. Griminger was walking towards Ms. Brant's apartment, she "heard Virginia [Taranco] yell for Mary [Griminger]." At that time, Ms. Griminger went back downstairs to where Ms. Taranco was. According to Ms. Brandt, she had observed "'JOSE' exit the

Griminger was returning to the second floor, Ms. Taranco and another neighbor, Lecrecia Ponce, discovered the door to Ms. Minas' apartment ajar (T. 621-22). As they went to open it, the door was snapped shut (T. 622). In her closing, the prosecutor argued that at that moment, Ms. Minas' assailant was in her apartment (T. 914). 10

After being unable to gain entry into Ms. Minas' apartment, Ms. Taranco went downstairs to the parking lot to verify that Ms. Minas' car was there (T. 623). Ms. Taranco returned to the hallway outside of Ms. Minas' apartment and sent Ms. Griminger down to the parking lot to see if she could tell if Ms. Minas' car was there (T. 623). When Ms. Griminger returned, Ms. Ponce went down to look for Ms. Minas' car. When she returned, they decided to call the police. By 8:20 p.m.,

elevator and walk towards his apartment." This was "a couple of minutes (less than 5) prior to Ms. Griminger coming towards her apartment" (2PC-R. 113).

Thus, Ms. Brandt in her statement to the police placed Mr. Jimenez in his apartment on the third floor before the "thump" was heard that caused Ms. Griminger to return to the second floor, and before the victim's front door was snapped shut by the assailant inside. Yet, she was not called as a witness at Mr. Jimenez's trial.

¹⁰Again, this ten minutes or so after Mr. Jimenez was observed downstairs in the parking lot.

¹¹According to the State's theory of the case, it is after the door is snapped shut that the assailant jumps from the second story balcony, while the women are checking the parking lot for Ms. Minas' car.

Ms. Taranco had called for help and the police were dispatched. The first officer arrived at 8:21 p.m. (T. 683). After the police were called, Mr. Jimenez appeared on the second floor. Mr. Jimenez asked Ms. Taranco's mother if he could use the phone to call for a cab (T. 625). Soon after making the call for a cab, Mr. Jimenez exited Ms. Taranco's apartment and, looking over the balcony, reported that the police had arrived (T. 625). He soon headed down in the elevator to wait for his cab, and was not reported seen again that night by the women.

The prosecutor's closing argument summarized the State's main three points as follows:

[D]efense [counsel] will probably say it's circumstantial, but when the Court reads the instructions to you carefully for a circumstantial phrase. The only place you may find that phrase is in the burglary instruction, the phrase circumstantial evidence.

The evidence is the fingerprint. The evidence is his statement. The evidence is Mr. Merriweather remembering this man jumping out from the balcony.

And the evidence is in fact how she died, and more likely than not a right handed man. There is only one conclusion you can draw from all of the evidence, the defendant is guilty of first degree murder. Guilty of burglary as charged.

(T. 891). The State argued that Mr. Jimenez had committed felony murder:

It is first degree premeditated murder. Felony murder. The victim is dead. This death occurred as a consequence and while the defendant was engaged in the commission of one or more of the following felonies,

and the one we're interested in is burglary. The death occurred as a consequence of and while Jose Jimenez was attempting to commit one or more of the following felonies, burglary.

He's either committing or attempting to, but unfortunately for him she finds him. She stops him. He kills her, and the elderly ladies are outside and he has to get away, and he doesn't have time to get anything. He's got to get away.

(T. 929-30).

The State's arguments relied upon three pieces of evidence. First, a fingerprint found on the inside of the victim's front door was identified by a law enforcement officer as matching Mr. Jimenez's right little finger (T. 671).

Second, the statement referred to by the prosecutor's argument was a statement allegedly made by Mr. Jimenez on October 5, 1992, shortly before his arrest. Mr. Jimenez allegedly said that the police were at his residence because they wanted to talk to him about a "stabbing" (T. 774). The State alleged that on October 5th, three days after the homicide, no one but the killer knew the manner of death (T. 881).¹²

The third circumstance was Mr. Merriweather's claim that he saw Mr. Jimenez drop from the victim's balcony between

¹²In her deposition, Ana Brandt refuted the State's claim on this point. She testified that when Ms. Griminger came upstairs to the third floor later the night of the homicide, she told Ms. Brandt that "Phyllis was murdered" (PC-R. 83). In fact, Ms. Griminger advised Ms. Brandt as to the manner of the murder; she indicated that the victim "was stabbed" (PC-R. 83). However, Ms. Brandt was not called as a witness at Mr. Jimenez's trial.

7:45 and 8:00 p.m. on the night of October 2, 1992 (T. 705-06).

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