### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC05-2373

JOSE ANTONIO JIMENEZ,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH
JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY,
CRIMINAL DIVISION

## BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL MCCOLLUM Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SANDRA S. JAGGARD
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0012068
Office of the Attorney General
Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 650
444 Brickell Avenue
Miami, Florida 33131
PH. (305) 377-5441
FAX (305) 377-5655

#

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

Moreover, counsel did actually establish that the van was present at the time the police arrived. Both Off. Sidd and Off. Korland testified that the van was there. (T. 690-91, 845) In fact, Defendant attempted to impeach Mr. Merriweather with the assertion that Mr. Merriweather had previously stated that the person had dropped off the balcony onto a van, and called Off. Korland in an attempt to show that such a statement had been made. (T. 730-32, 846-58) As such, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to present cumulative evidence. State v. Riechmann, 777 So. 2d 342, 356 (Fla. 2000); see also Valle v. State, 705 So. 2d 1331, 1334-35 (Fla. 1997); Provenzano v. Dugger, 561 So. 2d 541, 545-46 (Fla. 1990). The claim was properly denied.

While Defendant further claims that Off. Cardona could have testified that Mr. Merriweather did not speak to her and that

she did not recognize Defendant as a burglary as impeachment, the claim was also properly rejected as meritless. Merriweather admitted that he saw a uniformed officer walk past him but that the only police official to whom he spoke was a detective. (T. 723, 729-30) As Mr. Merriweather admitted he did not speak to any uniform officer, Off. Cardona's testimony that she, a uniformed officer, did not speak to him would not have impeached his testimony. See Morton v. State, 689 So. 2d 259, 262 (Fla. 1997) (to be admissible as impeachment, statement must be inconsistent); Alexander v. Bird Road Ranch & Stables, 599 So. 2d 229 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992)(same). Moreover, none of the other officers mentioned Defendant being known to Off. Cardona as a burglar or otherwise. (T. 493-568, 682-94, 738-72, 835-68, 872-74) The only testimony concerning Off. Cardona's statements to the other officers about Defendant was that she had seen him at the apartment complex on the night of the murder and that he matched Mr. Merriwether's description of the person who dropped off the balcony. (T. 765) Thus, evidence that Off. Cardona did not tell other officers that he was a known burglar would not have impeached their testimony. 10 See Morton v. State, 689 So.

Moreover, since there was no testimony presented that Off. Cardona knew Defendant was a burglar, there could be no knowing presentation of false evidence on the issue. Routly v. State, 590 So. 2d 397, 400 (Fla. 1991)(requiring showing that false testimony was presented to jury to support a Giglio claim); see

2d 259, 262 (Fla. 1997)(to be admissible as impeachment, statement must be inconsistent); Alexander v. Bird Road Ranch & Stables, 599 So. 2d 229 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992)(same). As such, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to present this inadmissible and cumulative evidence through Off. Cardona. Pietri v. State, 885 So. 2d 245, 252 (Fla. 2004); State v. Riechmann, 777 So. 2d 342, 356 (Fla. 2000); see also Valle v. State, 705 So. 2d 1331, 1334-35 (Fla. 1997); Provenzano v. Dugger, 561 So. 2d 541, 545-46 (Fla. 1990). The claim was properly denied.

Further, while Defendant suggests that Off. Cardona could have been called to testify that her description of the clothes Defendant was wearing when she saw him to show that it was inconsistent with the clothing descriptions given by the other witnesses, this issue is not properly before this Court. In the lower court, Defendant did not mention Off. Cardona's description of the clothing she saw Defendant wearing. (PCR3. 80-81) Instead, Defendant claimed that counsel should have called Off. Cardona to testify that she interviewed the occupants of the van, learned that they had not observed anyone 11

also United States v. Ruiz, 536 U.S. 622, 629 (2002)(noting that disclosure of impeachment material relates to the fairness of the trial).

<sup>11</sup> Testimony concerning the content of any interview with the van's occupants would have been inadmissible as hearsay and

and did not obtain their names or license plate number, knew Defendant from a prior domestic violence call but not as a burglar and did not speak to Mr. Merriweather. Id. The claim Cardona should have been called to that Off. description of the clothes that she saw Defendant wearing is being raised for the first time on appeal. However, this Court has held that it is improper to present grounds for post conviction relief for the first time on appeal attempting to do so results in the claims being procedurally Griffin v. State, 866 So. 2d 1, 11 n.5 (Fla. 2003); barred. Doyle v. State, 526 So. 2d 909, 911 (Fla. 1988). As such, this assertion provides no basis for reversal.

Defendant next complains that the lower court rejected his claims regarding the investigator hired by the paramour of his other murder victim. However, as the lower court found, this claim is not based on newly discovered evidence. The record reflects that Defendant has been aware of the investigator since before he even committed this crime, as he was interviewed by the investigator on March 11, 1991 and July 8, 1991. (PCR3. 261, 264) Moreover, the record reflects that as of July 11, 1996, Defendant was aware that the investigator had prepared reports that had not been disclosed. (PCR3. 243-65) The record also

would not support an ineffective assistance claim. *Pietri v. State*, 885 So. 2d 245, 252 (Fla. 2004).

reflects that Defendant was aware that the investigator had been in contact with the investigators in this case and that Jeffrey had previously provided Allen who information on other defendants had provided information that Defendant had confessed to both murder since at least December 13, 1995. (PCR3. 124-The record further reflects that Defendant was aware that Jeffrey Allen possessed information about this case since April 29, 1993. (R. 78-79) Since Defendant had been aware of all of this information for years, the lower court properly determined that this claim was procedurally barred. Swafford, 828 So. 2d at 974-77; see also Wright, 857 So. 2d at 868-69. Defendant asserts that his knowledge of this information does not negate a Brady claim, this Court has held to the contrary. Maharaj, 778 So. 2d at 954-55. Thus, the lower court properly denied this claim.

Even if the claim was not barred, Defendant would still be entitled to no relief. Defendant's assertion is that this information could have been used to impeachment the professionalism of the investigation. However, this Court has held that it is improper for a defendant to attempt to impeach the professionalism of investigators. Rose v. State, 472 So. 2d 1155, 1157-58 (Fla. 1985). Since it does not appear that this information would have been admissible, it was not material.

See Wood v. Bartholomew, 516 U.S. 1, 5-6 (1995). Moreover, attempting to present this evidence at trial would have opened the door to information about Defendant's commission of the Debas murder. Given the negative information that would have been presented, it cannot be said that but for the State's alleged failure to disclose this information, there is a reasonable probability that Defendant would not have been convicted. See Johnson v. State, 921 So. 2d 490, 505-06 (Fla. 2005). The claim was properly denied.

While Defendant has asserted that the alleged suppression of this information also constitutes a violation of Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150 (1972), this is not true. None of the information that Defendant suggests was false was provided to the jury. Instead, Defendant suggests that the State mislead him and a trial judge regarding a cost order. However, a defendant must establish that the State knowingly presented false evidence to a jury to demonstrate a Giglio claim. Routly v. State, 590 So. 2d 397, 400 (Fla. 1991) (requiring showing that false testimony was presented to jury to support a Giglio

Defendant pled guilty to second degree murder in connection with the Debas murder and all post conviction relief has been denied. Jimenez v. Sec'y for the Dept. of Corrections, Case No. 06-12090, Order Denying Certificate of Appealability (11th Cir. Aug. 7, 2006); Jimenez v. Crosby, Case No. 05-20572, Order Affirming and Adopting Magistrate's Report and Recommendation (S.D. Fla. Mar. 1, 2006); Jimenez v. State, 888 So. 2d 643 (Fla. 3d DCA 2004).

claim); see also United States v. Ruiz, 536 U.S. 622, 629 (2002) (noting that disclosure of impeachment material relates to the fairness of the trial). As such, the claim was properly denied.<sup>13</sup>

Defendant next complains that the lower court rejected the portion of his claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to present evidence that Ms. Baron made a note of her conversation with Defendant on the block for a different date on her desk calendar. Defendant offered no explanation of why this claim could not have been pursued earlier. In fact, Ms. Baron had disclosed in her pretrial deposition that the notation on her calendar was not under the date on which the conversation occurred. (R. 213) Again, claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are logically inconsistent with being newly discovered. Sireci, 773 So. 2d at 40 n.11. Under these circumstances, the claim was properly denied as procedurally barred. See Johnson v. Singletary, 647 So. 2d 106, 109 (Fla. 1994).

Even if the claim had not been procedurally barred, it would still have been properly denied as nonmeritorious. Ms.

The lower court was also correct in rejecting the claim concerning the withdrawal of the public defender's office. The law is well settled that while defendants have a right to counsel, they do not have a right to a particular attorney. Morris v. Slappy, 461 U.S. 1 (1983); Johnson v. State, 921 So. 2d 490, 502 (Fla. 2005); Koon v. State, 513 So. 2d 1253 (Fla. 1987).

Baron explained during her deposition that she had simply written the note on her desk calendar where her hand fell on the calendar as she was speaking on the phone. (R. 212-13) However, she had recorded the exact date and time of her conversation with Defendant in her case notes. (R. 211) Given this objective reasonable explanation for the placement of the note on the desk calendar, the lower court properly determined that attempting to impeach Ms. Baron with the desk calendar would not create a reasonable probability of a different result. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). Thus, the claim was properly denied.

While Defendant insists that the lower court should not have considered whether the alleged deficiency prejudiced Defendant because Ms. Baron's "explanation should have been evaluated by a jury," this is untrue. In Strickland, the Court stressed that the determination of prejudice should be based on the assumption of a decision maker that is conscientiously following the law and acting reasonably without consideration of the "idiosyncrasies of the particular decisionmaker." 466 U.S. at 694-95. Given this emphasis on a reasonable factfinder, it was entirely proper for the lower court to evaluate the likely affect on such a reasonable group of people of hearing the explanation. Moreover, given the completely reasonable

explanation of the placement of the note on the desk calendar, accompanied by the case notes that documented the exact time and date of the call, the lower court properly found that Defendant could not establish prejudice. The denial of the claim should be affirmed.

Defendant also faults the lower court for rejecting his assertions with regard to challenging the fingerprint evidence. However, the lower court properly rejected this claim.

Defendant's entire allegation regarding this issue was:

Additionally, new evidence reflected in the attachments is now available that demonstrates the scientific unreliability of fingerprint comparison. See e.g. State v. Behn, 2005 N.J. super. LEXIS 73 (N.J. Super. March 7, 2005) (new trial granted in light of new evidence demonstrating the unreliability of composition bullet-lead analysis). As a result, this new evidence further undermines confidence in the outcome of the proceedings against [Defendant].

(PCR3. 91-92) As can be seen from the foregoing, the allegations were merely conclusory and made a nonspecific reference to the attachments. However, this Court has held such conclusory claims that attempt to adopt other arguments by reference are insufficient to support a claim for relief. Farina v. State, 937 So. 2d 612, 617-18 (Fla. 2006). As such, the lower court properly rejected this claim.

Moreover, the only information attached to the motion was a copy of an order from a federal district court in Pennsylvania

regarding the admissibility of fingerprints under the federal standard for admission of scientific evidence that found opinion testimony about fingerprint identification to be inadmissible from January 2002. (PCR3. 362-409) As the date on the order suggests, any information about this order could have and should have been presented more than a year earlier. As such, the lower court properly determined the claim was barred. Swafford, 828 So. 2d at 974-77; see also Wright, 857 So. 2d at 868-69. is particularly true as this claim was raised as an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, а claim that is logically inconsistent with being newly discovered. Sireci, 773 So. 2d at 40 n.11. It should be affirmed.

Further, Defendant offered no explanation below, and still offers no explanation now, of how the order in question, which was subsequently withdrawn by the court that issued it, 14 could have been used. The order concerned a hearing on the admissibility of fingerprint evidence under the federal standard for the admissibility of such evidence. However, this Court has steadfastly refused to adopt this standard and rejected claims based on federal cases under this standard. Ibar v. State, 938 So. 2d 451, 467-68 (Fla. 2006) (rejecting similar claim directed at shoe impression evidence); Spann v. State, 857 So. 2d 845,

United States v. Llera Plaza, 188 F. Supp. 549 (E.D. Pa. 2002).

851-53 (Fla. 2003)(rejecting similar claim regarding handwriting analysis). Moreover, the one Florida court that has considered whether such evidence is admissible at trial despite its irrelevant to the question of whether fingerprint evidence is new or novel has determined that such evidence is not admissible at trial. State v. Armstrong, 920 So. 2d 769 (Fla. 3d DCA 2006); see also Price v. State, 931 So. 2d 1004 (Fla. 3d DCA 2006). Under these circumstances, the lower court properly determined that counsel was not ineffective for failing to attempt to present the order. Kokal, 718 So. 2d at 143; Groover, 656 So. 2d at 425; Hildwin, 654 So. 2d at 111; Breedlove, 595 So. 2d at 11. It should be affirmed.

With regard to Defendant's assertion that the lower court erred in failing to consider the alleged cumulative effect of the barred claims, the lower court acted properly. In Roberts v. State, 840 So. 2d 962, 972 (Fla. 2002), this Court reiterated that a defendant was not entitled to relief based on a cumulative error analysis where the individual claims were procedurally barred or lack merit. This Court further directed that the cumulative error analysis only applied where the present claim had merit. Id.; see also Wright, 857 So. 2d at 871.

Here, the allegedly new claim was procedurally barred and

lacked merit. Moreover, the claims that Defendant asserts should be considered cumulatively are themselves procedurally barred and lack merit. Under these circumstances, there is no basis for relief based on cumulative error. The denial of the claim should be affirmed.

## II. THE UNPRESERVED AND MERITLESS CLAIM THAT DEFENDANT IS INNOCENT PROVIDES NO BASIS FOR REVERSAL.

Defendant next asserts that his claims establish that he is "innocent" of the crime and complains that his first post conviction counsel was ineffective. However, this issue should be rejected because it is unpreserved and meritless.

First, this claim is not properly before this Court. In the lower court did not assert that the procedural limitations on his claims should be ignored because he proved that he was actually innocent. However, in order for an issue to be preserved, it must have been an actual ground presented below. Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982)(objection must be based on same grounds raised on appeal for issue to be preserved). As that is not true here, this issue has not been preserved and should be rejected.

Moreover, as argued in Issue I, all of Defendant's claims are not only procedurally barred but they are also meritless.

As such, there is no reason to consider this issue. It should be rejected.

While Defendant suggests that this Court has given more rights to non-capital defendants than it has to capital defendants, this is simply untrue. At the time this Court decided Steele v. Kehoe, 747 So. 2d 931 (Fla. 1999), and amended

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